THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

DEC 08 2015

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable Alison R. Lee, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2011-GS-40-03359

Appellate Case No. 2013-002531

State of South Carolina, Respondent,

v.

Joshua William Porch, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Michael J. Anzelmo
NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP
1320 Main Street / 17th Floor
Post Office Box 11070 (29211-1070)
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 799-2000

Mervin Ashley Alexander Garry
NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP
101 Constitution Avenue, NW / Suite 900
Washington, DC 20001
(202) 545-2927

Robert M. Dudek

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Richland County Grand Jury indicted Joshua Porch (“Porch”) for the murder of Nakia Mallory in 2011. (Trans. Dated 11/18/13 at 4; R. 0119). A Richland County jury found Porch guilty of murder on November 25, 2013, and the trial court sentenced him to fifty years’ imprisonment that same day. (Trans. Dated 11/25/13 at 1806–09, 1833; R. 1199-1202). Porch timely filed and served his notice of appeal. (Notice of Appeal; R. 1256).

FACTS

In the early morning hours of May 14, 2006, Nakia Mallory was murdered. The Richland County Sheriff’s Department (“RCSD” or “the RCSD”) initially charged Justin Mallory (“Mallory”) with the crime. (Trans. Dated 11/18/13 at 163; R. 0193). Mallory’s first trial ended with a hung jury. (*Id.*). For his second trial, Mallory opted for a bench trial, and the court found him not guilty. (*Id.* at 163–64; R. 1093-94).

In each trial, Porch testified for the State as an eyewitness to the crime. (Trans. Dated 11/25/13 at 1521–23; R. 1092-1094). Porch testified he witnessed an altercation between Nakia and Mallory. (*Id.*). Porch also witnessed Mallory strike Nakia with a weapon, causing her to bleed. (*Id.*). Porch intervened in the dispute and suffered an injury himself, which caused his own blood to be left at the scene. (*Id.*).

Following the State’s failure to obtain a conviction against Mallory, the RCSD focused their attention on Porch. (Trans. Dated 11/21/13 at 1057–59; R. 0843-0845). On July 7, 2009, the RCSD obtained a warrant for Porch’s arrest. (Trans. Dated 11/21/13 at 1058; R. 0844). The RCSD did not inform the magistrate of Porch’s prior involvement with RCSD’s investigation of the crime or Justin Mallory’s trials. (Trans.

Dated 11/12/13 at 54–56, 74–75; R. 72-74, 92-93). Instead, the RCSD explained only that Porch’s statements placed him at the scene of the crime and that newly tested blood evidence matched the blood left at the scene by Porch.¹ (Trans. Dated 11/12/13 at 7–10, 54–56; R. 0025-28, 72-74).

On July 8, 2009, investigators with the RCSD, Sergeants Shawn McDaniels and Brian Godfrey, travelled to California with the arrest warrant for Porch. (Trans. Dated 11/21/2013 at 1058–59; R. 0844-45). McDaniels arrested Porch that night. (Trans. Dated 11/25/13 at 1527–28; R. 1098-99). The interrogation began at approximately 1:00 a.m. on July 9, 2009. (Trans. Dated 11/21/2013 at 1065–69; R. 0851-0855).

McDaniels and Godfrey continued their initial interrogation of Porch until somewhere between 5 a.m. and 6 a.m. on July 9, 2009. (*Id.* at 1075–76, 1089; R. 0861-862, 0875) (explaining that Porch’s first interrogation concluded “anywhere between five or six a.m.”). During that interrogation, Porch allegedly provided a statement implicating himself in Nakia Mallory’s death. (*Id.* at 1078; R. 0864).

McDaniels and Godfrey then interrogated Porch for “several hours later that same day,” beginning at 2:19 p.m. (*Id.* at 1087–89; R. 0873-875). According to McDaniels, a second interrogation was necessary because Porch’s initial statement indicated Nakia Mallory’s death was an accident. (*Id.* at 1091; R. 0877). McDaniels described Porch’s initial statement:

Once we got past the fact that Justin Mallory was never present during the stabbing, he stated that he was involved and it was an accident, and that, you know, there was no intent to stab her, and that there was an altercation as a

¹ The warrant failed to include the fact that Porch had previously testified for the State that Porch’s blood was at the scene as a result of the altercation with Justin Mallory and the deceased. Instead, the RCSD testimony implied the blood evidence was different from that previous testimony.

result of her trying to come on to him and he rejected her and then she went to the kitchen and got a knife, because she was rejected, and so I needed to clear that up.

(*Id.* at 1091; R. 0877).

This second interrogation concluded approximately three hours later around 5:15 p.m. (*Id.* at 1093; R. 0879). During this interrogation, Porch added details to this statement allegedly consistent with evidence law enforcement collected. As McDaniels explained:

Well, it was very significant as it pertains to the evidence that we had from the case file. Of course, it was—you know, he added more to his statement in terms of the interaction, the encounter. It started swaying away from Nakia Mallory being the one to initiate and being the one to kind of come on to him to, you know, that she rejected him. He admitted to calling her a bitch. And he then offered, you know, the explanation describing the sequence of events; that she got upset and that she went to the kitchen and got a knife, after saying “excuse me, you don’t talk to me like that.” And he also changed his statement at this particular point from the first statement, you know, as it pertains to the struggle itself. You know, he added this time that he struck her a couple of times to the forehead area, which was consistent with the evidence that we had.

(*Id.* at 1102; R. 0888).

McDaniels and Godfrey interrogated Porch for a third time on July 10, and the investigators videotaped this interrogation, unlike the previous two interrogations. (*Id.* at 1186; R. 0959). McDaniels testified that the interrogation video begins around 11:00 a.m. that day, but that his portion of the interrogation occurs approximately six hours later. (*Id.*). During this six hour gap, Roberta Cohen, an investigator with the Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Office (“LASD” or “the LASD”), interrogated Porch and administered a polygraph examination. (Trans. Dated. 11/18/13 at 171; R. 0201). The

State subpoenaed Cohen to testify at trial regarding her interrogation. However, despite that subpoena, Cohen refused to testify at Porch's trial and did not appear. (*Id.* at 172-73; R. 0202-203). As a result, the State entered into evidence only the portion of the video showing the interrogation by McDaniels and Godfrey. (*Id.* at 173-74, 191, 199-200; R. 0203-204, 0221, 0229-230; Trans. Dated 11/21/13 at 1106-07; R. 0892-893).

However, over a request from Porch's trial counsel, the trial court ruled that Porch could not discuss Cohen's interrogation during his testimony or the court would allow the State to introduce those portions of the interrogation video even in Cohen's absence. (Trans. Dated 11/25/2013 at 1498-1500; R. 1069-1071). According to the trial court, Porch's trial counsel had sufficient opportunity to cross-examine Cohen, therefore satisfying Confrontation Clause concerns, despite the fact that Cohen did not appear at trial and could not be cross-examined by Porch before the jury. (Trans. Dated 11/18/13 at 182-85; R. 0212-215).

On November 25, 2013, a Richland County jury found Porch guilty of murder. (Trans. Dated 11/25/13 at 1806-09; R. 1199-1202). The trial court sentenced Porch to fifty years' imprisonment. (*Id.* at 1833; R. 1213).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Whether the trial court erred in failing to void the State's arrest warrant under *Franks v. Delaware*.
- II. Whether the trial court erred, and violated Porch's rights under the Confrontation Clause, in limiting Porch's testimony based on the unavailability of a State witness.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, an appellate court sits to review errors of law only. *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision absent an abuse of discretion. *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 570, 647 S.E.2d 144, 146 (2007). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law, or when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. *Id.*, 647 S.E.2d at 166-67.

Appellate courts are bound by fact findings in response to motions preliminary to trial when the findings are supported by evidence and not clearly wrong or controlled by an error of law. *State v. Amerson*, 311 S.C. 316, 320, 428 S.E.2d 871, 873 (1993).

The violation of the Sixth Amendment right to confrontation is not per se reversible error. *State v. Graham*, 314 S.C. 383, 386, 444 S.E.2d 525, 527 (1994); *State v. Lewis*, 324 S.C. 539, 558, 478 S.E.2d 861, 867 (Ct. App. 1996). The reviewing court must determine whether that error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Graham*, 314 S.C. at 386, at 444 S.E.2d at 527.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in failing to void the State's arrest warrant under *Franks v. Delaware*.

The RCSD omitted critical exculpatory information from the arrest warrant in this case. As a result, the warrant failed to establish probable cause for Porch's arrest. Porch suffered prejudice from this error. This Court should reverse.

In *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154 (1978), the United States Supreme Court held the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution afforded

criminal defendants the right to challenge the veracity of a warrant affidavit following the warrant's execution. *State v. Missouri*, 337 S.C. 548, 553, 524 S.E.2d 394, 396 (1999). In *Franks*, the Supreme Court provided a two-part test:

- 1) To mandate an evidentiary hearing, the challengers' attack must be more than conclusory and must be supported by more than a mere desire to cross-examine. There must be allegations of deliberate falsehood or of reckless disregard for the truth and those allegations must be accompanied by an offer of proof; and
- 2) If these requirements are met, and if, when material that is subject of the alleged falsity or reckless disregard is set to one side, there remains sufficient content in the warrant affidavit to support a finding of probable cause, no hearing is required.

Id. at 554, 524 S.E.2d at 397 (citing *Franks*, 438 U.S. at 171–72). This test applies both to an act of commission, in which false information is in the warrant affidavit, and acts of omission, in which exculpatory material is not included in the affidavit. *Id.*; see also *Horton v. City of Columbia*, 408 S.C. 27, 36, 757 S.E.2d 537, 541 (Ct. App. 2014) (“However, the *Franks* test also applies to acts of omission while exculpatory information is left out of the affidavit.”).

In *Missouri*, police obtained a search warrant for the home of Curtis Sibert for cocaine. *Id.* at 550, 524 S.E.2d at 395. The lead detective submitted an affidavit to support the warrant, which stated in pertinent part:

Your affiant . . . states that on January 25, 1995 he received information from investigator Sam C. Cureton of the Greenville County Sheriff's Office pertaining to Victor Wyatt Missouri. The information that was relayed to your affiant that Missouri was involved in the manufacture and distribution of crack cocaine. The following is a chronological chain of events leading to your affiants [sic] belief that Victor Wyatt Missouri, and others not yet

identified, are manufacturing and distributing crack cocaine. . . .

The confidential source of information, who from here forward will be referred to as CSI, stated that for the past two months he has purchased a total of two kilograms of cocaine from Victor Missouri. He would receive this in half kilo quantities every two weeks.

On February 3, 1995, at 4:00 in the morning, Missouri called CSI and told him that [Sibert] was back and they needed somewhere to cook the crack. He said he couldn't cook it at his (Missouri) house because he had relatives there. CSI told him he would give him an answer later and he ultimately told him no. Around 9:00 this same morning CSI paged [Sibert] via his digital pager. [Sibert] returned the call and told CSI they were still trying to get it together. At 10:15 another page was made to [Sibert] with the same results. At 2:00 in the afternoon the CSI drove to [Sibert] apartment at 400 Summit Drive and went in to inquire about his portion of the cocaine. Your affiant wired the CSI with a body transmitter that would enable your affiant to monitor the conversations he had while inside this apartment. Your affiant, while monitoring the audio transmitter, heard a male voice, whom CSI later stated was [Sibert], question CSI about the phone that had been used earlier trying to set the transaction up. This male appeared to be somewhat reserved about talking with CSI about the cocaine. CSI told your affiant that [Sibert] did appear to be nervous about the deal they were trying to make. **[Sibert] told CSI that he had the crack but he would call him when it was right.**

Id. at 550-52, 524 S.E.2d at 395-96 (alterations added) (emphasis in original). Police received and executed a search warrant based on this affidavit and found Missouri in the kitchen standing over a sink, facing a set of triple beam scales. *Id.* at 552, 524 S.E.2d at 396. Inside the sink, police discovered a quantity of cooked, crack cocaine. *Id.* Police arrested Missouri for trafficking in crack cocaine. *Id.*

At the suppression hearing, the lead detective testified that the affidavit contained a false statement, because Sibert never told the CSI there was crack in his

apartment. *Id.* at 553, 524 S.E.2d at 396. The lead detective testified that the CSI informed him on two occasions that day of the search that the crack was not in Sibert's apartment. *Id.* Sibert also explained to the informant he did not want to cook the cocaine at his own home because "his wife was trying to go straight." *Id.* This information was not provided to the magistrate in the supporting affidavit. *Id.*

The *Missouri* court held that the lead detective "at least acted recklessly in making the false statement and in omitting the exculpatory information." *Id.* at 555, 524 S.E.2d at 397. Following this conclusion, the court then looked to whether excluding the false information and inserting the exculpatory statement, there remained "a substantial basis upon which the magistrate could have found probable cause to issue the warrant." *Id.* The court held that a substantial basis did not exist, as the omitted information struck at the "very heart of the affidavit's purpose" which was to establish probable cause for a search of Sibert's apartment for crack cocaine. *Id.* at 556, 524 S.E.2d at 398.²

The circumstances of the instant case are similar. The police affidavit provided the magistrate with the following information:

That on 5/14/2006, while at 1103 Pineland Road, Apartment 311-C, in the Dentsville Magistrate District of Richland County, one Joshua Porch did commit the crime of murder, in that he did with malice aforethought, assault

² The inclusion of this omitted material created an "affirmative hurdle" which the remaining portions of the affidavit could not overcome. The remaining portions demonstrated that; (1) the suspects arranged to sell cocaine, (2) the suspects transported cocaine to Greenville for this purpose, and (3) the presence of baking soda, a common cocaine production drying and cutting agent, in Sibert's apartment. *Missouri*, 337 S.C. at 556, 524 S.E.2d at 398. The Court acknowledged that these facts made the presence of cocaine in Sibert's apartment a fair probability, but that the insertion of the omitted information defeated this probability. *Id.* ("This, in turn, erodes the basis upon which a magistrate could find probable cause to search [Sibert's] apartment." (alterations added)); *see also State v. Missouri*, 361 S.C. 107, 115, 603 S.E.2d 594, 598 (2004) (In addition, because we held in a prior decision that the search warrant in this case was invalid, the evidence seized must be suppressed and Missouri's conviction vacated.").

and stab Nakia Mallory in the neck which resulted in the death of Nakia Mallory. . . .

The defendant has admitted to being at the scene of the crime during the assault and stabbing and has been further implicated in the crime by DNA testing of blood found at the scene that puts the defendant at the scene.

(Trans. Dated 11/12/13 at 9, 12-13; R. 0027, 0030-31).

The RCSD failed to provide key exculpatory information regarding why Porch admitted to being at the scene of the crime during the assault and stabbing and why his blood was found at the scene of the crime. (Trans. Dated 11/12/13 at 54-56, 74-75; R. 0072-74, 0092-93). Porch served as the key eye witness for the State in two prosecutions of Justin Mallory for this crime. As part of that service, Porch admitted to being present at the home of Justin and Nakia Mallory on the night of the murder, of intervening in a domestic dispute between the Mallorys, and watching Justin Mallory injure Nakia. (Trans. Dated 11/25/13 at 1503; R. 1074). In addition, Porch explained his blood was at the scene of the crime because of injuries he suffered as he attempted to intervene in the dispute. (*Id.*). However, the RCSD, having now concluded to pursue Porch for this crime after two unsuccessful prosecutions, included none of this explanatory and exculpatory information in the affidavit. (Trans. Dated 11/12/13 at 7-10, 54-56; R. 0025-28, 0072-74). Omitting this information demonstrates a clear reckless disregard for the truth.

Prior to trial, Porch requested an evidentiary hearing as to probable cause because of the deficient nature of the warrant. The only uncontested language from the affidavit is the following:

That on 5/14/2006, while at 1103 Pineland Road, Apartment 311-C, in the Dentsville Magistrate District of

Richland County, one Joshua Porch did commit the crime of murder, in that he did with malice aforethought, assault and stab Nakia Mallory in the neck which resulted in the death of Nakia Mallory.

(*Id.* at 7, 12; R. 0025, 0030). This bare allegation can not establish probable cause for the RCSD arrest warrant. The trial court agreed with Porch's trial counsel that the omissions warranted an evidentiary hearing, finding:

After—after reviewing all of the information, I—I think that there were—that—that the affidavit contained in—in—in the arrest warrant lacks information which would have been relevant to making a decision as to probable cause. And it—it—lacks both exculpatory and inculpatory [sic] information.

(*Id.* at 23–24; R. 0041–42).

During the evidentiary hearing, Porch's trial counsel presented testimony from Officer David Wilson of the RCSD and the magistrate that issued the arrest warrant, Judge Phil Newsom. Officer Wilson confirmed that previous RCSD investigators relied on Porch as an eye witness in two previous trials for Nakia Mallory's murder. (*Id.* at 41–42; R. 0059–60). According to Officer Wilson, the information in the affidavit was sufficient for a finding of probable cause because of prior inconsistent statements attributed to Porch and the newly discovered blood evidence on Nakia Mallory's clothing that matched to Porch. (*Id.* at 53, 64–65; R. 0071, 0082–83).

Critically, the affidavit did not contain this information, and Officer Wilson could not confirm he discussed this information with Judge Newsom. (*Id.* at 50–51, 53; R. 0068–69, 0071). Following Officer Wilson's testimony, Judge Newsom testified that Officer Wilson did not inform him that Porch previously testified on two occasions as an eyewitness to the crime. (*Id.* at 74–75; R. 0092–93).

Despite testimony that the affidavit failed to include exculpatory information and the magistrate's testimony that he was definitely not informed of this information, the trial court refused to void the arrest warrant. The court stated,

But after hearing all of the information, both information that would have been exculpatory as well as information that the—the—the police officers had available to them, I find that there was sufficient probable cause.

(*Id.* at 85; R. 0103).

The trial court erred for several reasons. First, Porch's trial counsel showed intent through reckless disregard. It is well-established that affidavits are normally drafted by nonlawyers and in the "midst" and "haste" of a criminal investigation. *United States v. Ventresca*, 380 U.S. 102, 108 (1965). Consequently, the warrant need not include every piece of conceivable information. *United States v. Colkley*, 899 F.2d 297, 300-01 (4th Cir. 1990) (citations omitted). That said, *Franks* protects against omissions designed to mislead or that are made in reckless disregard of whether they would mislead the magistrate. *Id.* at 301 (citation omitted).

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