ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Richland County  
The Honorable Alison R. Lee, Circuit Court Judge  
Appeal Case No. 2013-002531

---

RECEIVED

DEC 04 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE

Respondent,

V.

JOSHUA WILLIAM PORCH,

Appellant

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. MCINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ANTHONY MABRY  
Assistant Attorney General  
No. 11973  
South Carolina Attorney General's Office  
PO Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

DANIEL E. JOHNSON  
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

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

interrogated him was not there at trial; and he would not be able to present his complete and full story to the jury. Judge Lee informed Porch he could testify to what occurred earlier in this questioning session [with the Los Angeles detective] if he wished, but if he did and he went too far, it would probably open the door to the State being allowed to introduce portions of the videotape in reply or rebuttal. Porch indicated he did not want the State to rebut using the videotape when the witness was not there. He also stated he had not seen the redacted video yet. Judge Lee indicated Porch would be allowed to review the redacted videotape (R. 1068-74, Tr. pp. 1497-1503).

Porch then testified in his own defense, and was not limited in any way in his testimony, and did testify to threats and promises he alleged were made by the Richland County detectives and also testified that the same type of threats or behavior occurred during his interrogation by the Los Angeles detective. After Porch testified, the State did not play the earlier portion of the videotape in reply or rebuttal of Porch's testimony. (R. 1075-1198, Tr. pp. 1503-1627). Porch did not proffer any other testimony he would have testified to had the Judge Lee not informed him of the possibility of reply or rebuttal with the videotape. (R. 1068-1198, Tr. pp. 1497-1627).

Porch now claims this advising him of the possibility of reply or rebuttal with the videotape somehow limited his testimony and as a result violated his rights under the Confrontation Clause. Porch is wrong, and there is no merit to this argument.

### ***Lack of Preservation of the Issue***

First, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. Porch *inquired* of the court whether he could testify about matter which occurred earlier in the 3<sup>rd</sup> interview tape. He stated that if he could not it would infringe on his right to testify. The court informed him he could testify to anything he wished including what occurred during the earlier interview. However, the court

informed him it would probably open the door to reply or rebuttal evidence from the videotape itself. Porch argued this impinged on his right to testify. He alleged he was not able testify fully and therefore to present a complete defense. The court made clear he could testify to anything he wanted to, including what occurred in the earlier interview, but the State had the opportunity to rebut it through the video. Porch stated he did not want State to rebut his testimony using the video when the detective on the video was not there, thus conceding the issue. (R. 1068-74, Tr. pp. 1497-1503).

Porch raised no objection below. Further, Porch did not object at any point under the Confrontation Clause. Porch argued his right to testify was being impinged. Further, Porch conceded the issue in the trial court. And, Porch did not proffer any testimony what he would have testified to had the court not informed him of the possibility he could open the door to reply or rebuttal evidence. As a result, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. State v. Owens, 378 S.C. 636, 664 S.E.2d 80 (2008)(*Owens III.*)(Confrontation Clause challenge not preserved for appellate review when it was not properly raised below); State v. Powers, 331 S.C. 37, 501 S.E.2d 116 (1998)(constitutional arguments are not exception to issue preservation rule); State v. Varvil, 338 S.C. 335, 526 S.E.2d 248 (Ct. App. 2000)(same); Glover v. County of Charleston, 361 S.C. 634, 606 S.E.2d 773 (2004)(issue preservation rule applies to constitutional arguments); Durlach v. Durlach, 359 S.C. 64, 596 S.E.2d 908 (2004)(same); State v. Silver, 314 S.C. 483, 431 S.E.2d 250 (1993)(requiring proffer when evidence is excluded); State v. Anderson, 304 S.C. 551, 406 S.E.2d 152 (1991)(purpose of a proffer is to adequately develop the record in order to allow the appellate court a chance to determine whether the appellant was prejudiced by the trial court's refusal to admit the evidence); Designer Showrooms, Inc. v. Kelley, 304 S.C. 478, 405 S.E.2d 417 (Ct. App. 1991)(a proffer that is confusing or incomplete will not provide

grounds for the appellate court to find prejudice); State v. McCray, 332 S.C. 536, 506 S.E.2d 301 (1998)(party may not raise one issue below and a different issue on appeal); State v. Myers, 344 S.C. 344 S.C. 532, 544 S.E.2d 851 (Ct. App. 2001)(same); State v. Benton, 338 S.C. 151, 526 S.E.2d 228 (2000)(issue is not preserved for appellate consideration if it has been conceded in the trial court); TNS Mills, Inc. v. South Carolina Dep't of Revenue, 331 S.C. 611, 503 S.E.2d 471 (1998)(same). This issue must be dismissed.

### ***The Confrontation Clause***

“The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment, extended against the States by the Fourteenth Amendment, guarantees the right of a criminal defendant ‘to be confronted with the witnesses against him.’” Richardson v. March, 481 U.S. 200, 206, 107 S.Ct. 1702 (1987)(quoting U.S. Const. amend. VI.); State v. McDonald, 412 S.C. 133, 771 S.E.2d 840 (2015), (quoting Richardson v. March). This constitutional right “include[s] the right to cross-examine those witnesses.” Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S. 400, 401, 85 S.Ct. 1065 (1965); McDonald, *supra*.

### ***The Lack of Merit of Porch's Argument***

Porch was not prevented or prohibited from cross-examining any witness against him during his trial. (See Trial Transcript). In fact, he cross-examined the Los Angeles detective at the Denno hearing, and she did not testify against him at trial. The portion of the videotape where she was interviewing him was not played to the jury by the State in its case in chief. Porch was simply informed, when he inquired whether he could testify about matters that occurred in this earlier portion of this interview, that he could, but if he went into matters in his direct testimony regarding what occurred earlier on the videotape, not shown to the jury, and he went too far, the State would be allowed to play the earlier portions of the videotape to the jury in reply or rebuttal to Porch's claims on direct because Porch would have opened the door to that

reply or rebuttal testimony. (R. 1068-74, Tr. pp. 1497-1503). There was no Confrontation Clause violation.

Porch cites several cases dealing with the admissibility of statements of *witnesses* who are not present to testify at trial. (See BOA). The cases Porch cites are simply not apposite and have no application here.

First, the earlier portions of the videotape were never introduced in evidence; there was only the potential the earlier portions of the tape would be introduced in reply or rebuttal depending on what Porch testified to on direct examination or cross-examination. As a result, there was no Confrontation Clause violation. Additionally, the trial court merely explained to Porch what could occur if he went into matter not already in evidence, so Porch could make an informed decision, which he made. Porch was not prohibited from testifying. He was not prohibited from testifying about any matter that he wished to testify about. As a result, there is no Confrontation Clause violation.

Second, the videotape was not the statement of *a witness*, it contained **Porch's statements** in response to questioning by an investigator. As a general rule, it is an exception to the hearsay rule that **a defendant's out-of-court statement** may be testified to by the witness who heard an oral statement or received a written statement. State v. Plyler, 275 S.C. 291, 270 S.E.2d 126 (1980); State v. Shorter, 85 S.C. 170, 67 S.E. 131 (1910); State v. Hambright, 310 S.C. 382, 426 S.E.2d 806 (Ct. App. 1992); State v. Good, 308 S.C. 313, 417 S.E.2d 643 (Ct. App. 1992). Anything a defendant has stated, which is relevant to any question involved in the trial, is admissible in evidence against him. State v. Pittman, 137 S.C. 75, 134 S.E. 515 (1926); State v. Turner, 117 S.C. 470, 109 S.E. 119 (1921). A statement, confession, or admission of a defendant may take many different forms, and is admissible, provided, it came direct from the

one charged with the commission of the crime. State v. Smith, 227 S.C. 400, 88 S.E.2d 345 (1955). It is a common occurrence that a defendant will communicate to other persons; and, if authenticated, the communication can be used and is admissible in evidence against a defendant. State v. Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. 526, 552 S.E.2d 300 (2001); State v. Mathews, 296 S.C. 379, 373 S.E.2d 587 (1988); State v. Mercado, 263 S.C. 304, 210 S.E.2d 459 (1974); State v. Miller, 260 S.C. 1, 193 S.E.2d 802 (1973); State v. Hightower, 221 S.C. 91, 69 S.E.2d 363 (1952); State v. Dixon, 284 S.C. 526, 328 S.E.2d 89 (Ct. App. 1985). *See also* State v. Miller, 262 S.C. 369, 204 S.E.2d 738 (1974).

The Confrontation Clause simply does not apply here. Porch was not prevented from testifying; however, if he did testify, Porch could not be allowed to testify falsely about what occurred earlier in the interview, when the videotape would show the jury exactly what had occurred. The admission of reply testimony is within the sound discretion of the trial judge. State v. Todd, 290 S.C. 212, 214, 349 S.E.2d 339, 340 (1986). Any testimony which is presented to rebut, contradict, or impeach the case presented by the defense is proper on reply as long as it is not on a collateral matter. State v. Todd, 290 S.C. 212, 349 S.E.2d 339 (1986); State v. South, 285 S.C. 529, 311 S.E.2d 775 (1985); State v. Stewart, 283 S.C. 104, 320 S.E.2d 447 (1984); State v. Groome, 274 S.C. 189, 262 S.E.2d 31 (1980); State v. Bell, 263 S.C. 239, 209 S.E.2d 890 (1974); State v. Crowe, 258 S.C. 258, 188 S.E.2d 379 (1972); State v. Beckham, 334 S.C. 302, 321, 513 S.E.2d 606, 615 (1999); State v. DuBose, 288 S.C. 226, 231, 341 S.E.2d 785, 788 (1986); State v. Williams, 409 S.C. 455, 469, 761 S.E.2d 770, 778 (Ct. App. 2014). *See* State v. McDaniel, 68 S.C. 304, 47 S.E. 384 (1904)(in murder prosecution, where defendant testified that the deceased victim grabbed the barrel of the pistol, as it was fired, it was proper to present reply testimony that there were not powder burns on the deceased's hand, which tended

to show that the deceased did not have hold of the barrel of the pistol at the time it was fired). Similarly, when a party introduces evidence about a particular matter, the other party is entitled to explain it or rebut it, even if the latter evidence would have been incompetent or irrelevant had it been initially offered by the opposing party under the “opening the door” rule. State v. Curtis, 356 S.C. 622, 591 S.E.2d 600 (2004); State v. Foster, 354 S.C. 614, 582 S.E.2d 426 (2003); State v. Taylor, 33 S.C. 159, 508 S.E.2d 870 (1998); State v. Stroman, 281 S.C. 508, 513, 316 S.E.2 395, 398 (1984); State v. Johnson, 196 S.C. 497, 14 S.E.2d 24 (1941); State v. Browder, 183 S.C. 447, 191 S.E.2d 302 (1937); State v. Moody, 94 S.C. 26, 78 S.E. 737 (1913); State v. McEachern, 399 S.C. 125, 731 S.E.2d 604 (Ct. App. 2012); State v. Culbreath, 377 S.C. 326, 333, 659 S.E.2d 268, 272 (Ct. App. 2008); State v. Mekler, 368 S.C. 1, 626 S.E.2d 890 (Ct. App. 2005); State v. Rice, 375 S.C. 302, 652 S.E.2d 409 (Ct. App. 2007); State v. Bryant, 356 S.C. 485, 589 S.E.2d 775 (Ct. App. 2003), *reversed on other grounds*, 369 S.C. 511, 633 S.E.2d 152 (2006); State v. Beam, 336 S.C. 45, 518 S.E.2d 297 (Ct. App. 1999). Whether a person opens the door to the admission of otherwise inadmissible evidence during the course of the trial is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court. State v. Page, 378 S.C. 476, 483, 663 S.E.2d 357, 360 (Ct. App. 2008), *citing* State v. Young, 364 S.C. 476, 613 S.E.2d 386 (Ct. App. 2005). The Richland County detectives observed this portion of the interview from an adjoining room and could authenticate the authenticity of the videotape. Rule 1001(1) & (2), SCRE (photographs include videotapes); State v. Campbell, 259 S.C. 339, 191 S.E.2d 770 (1972)(it is sufficient to justify the admission of photographs in evidence if a person familiar with the scene can say that the pictures truly and accurately represent the scene involved). As a result, there is no Confrontation Clause violation. The court was merely answering Porch’s inquiry in light of the State’s response to Porch’s inquiry and correctly stated the law. Depending on what Porch

testified to on direct, the videotape could become admissible as reply or rebuttal evidence or because Porch opened the door to its admission.

Third, Porch testified about what occurred in each interview, including this earlier interview on the videotape, and the State did not play the videotape in reply or rebuttal. This portion of the tape was never introduced. (R. 1074-1198, See Tr. pp. 1503-1627). There was no Confrontation Clause violation.

Fourth, Porch had the opportunity to cross-examine the Los Angeles detective and did at the Denno hearing. (Tr. Denno hearing). Even if the videotape had been admitted, which it was not, Porch had the opportunity to cross-examine the other person in the video beside himself. If the tape had been introduced, which it was not, Porch could have introduced the Denno testimony of the Los Angeles detective in surreply. See State v. Durden, 264 S.C. 86, 212 S.E.2d 587 (1975); State v. Brock, 130 S.C. 252, 126 S.E.2d 28 (1924); State v. Burton, 111 S.C. 526, 98 S.E. 856 (1919); State v. Harmon, 79 S.C. 80, 60 S.E. 230 (1908); State v. Summer, 55 S.C. 32, 32 S.E. 771 (1899); State v. Watson, 353 S.C. 620, 579 S.E.2d 148 (Ct. App. 2003). See also State v. Wooten, 92 S.C. 61, 75 S.E. 212 (1912).

Finally, even if this somehow constituted a Confrontation Clause violation, it was harmless. Schneble v. Florida, 405 U.S. 427, 430, 92 S.Ct. 1056, (1972) (“The mere finding of a violation of [the Confrontation Clause] in the course of the trial, however, does not automatically require reversal of the ensuing criminal conviction.”); State v. McDonald, 412 S.C. 133, 771 S.E.2d 840 (2015), quoting Schneble, *supra*. The violation of a defendant’s right of confrontation, if proven, is subject to harmless error analysis. Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 684, 106 S.Ct. 1431 (1986). It is not *per se* reversible error. State v. Dinkins, 345 S.C. 412,

548 S.E.2d 217 (2001). *See State v. Jenkins*, 322 S.C. 360, 364, 474 S.E.2d 812, 815 (Ct. App. 1996); *State v. Bell*, 302 S.C. 18, 393 S.E.2d 362, 372 (1990).

The victim was murdered in her own apartment. Porch gave several inconsistent statements, first denying he was present at the scene, then admitting he was at the scene but cut his hand cutting some object earlier before the murder. Porch then admitted he was at the scene but the husband killed the victim. The victim was stabbed on her right neck and over her right eye. Porch was left handed. The victim's husband was right handed. Porch confessed to the crime after being arrested in California. Porch admitted in his *statements* in California that the husband was not present when the victim was killed, and two (2) of these statements were made before he was questioned by the Los Angeles detective. Porch eventually admitted it was he who "came on" to the victim, she resisted, and he eventually killed the victim. Porch's blood [D.N.A.] was found on the right bottom of the victim's shirt. DNA consistent with Porch's DNA was found under the victim's fingernails. This DNA was not consistent with the husband's DNA. Porch's DNA was found in the victim's kitchen and under her sink. Porch admitted he attempted to clean up the blood before leaving the scene. Porch admitted he got rid of the knife used to stab the victim. Porch was not limited in his testimony. Porch did not proffer what he would have testified to had the Court not informed him of the possible repercussions of him going into the earlier portion of the interview. *State v. Anderson*, 304 S.C. 551, 406 S.E.2d 152 (1991)(purpose of a proffer is to adequately develop the record in order to allow the appellate court a chance to determine whether the appellant was prejudiced by the trial court's refusal to admit the evidence); *Designer Showrooms, Inc. v. Kelley*, 304 S.C. 478, 405 S.E.2d 417 (Ct. App. 1991)(a proffer that is confusing or incomplete will not provide grounds for the appellate court to find prejudice). Even if there was some Confrontation Clause violation, it was harmless.

Delaware v. Van Arsdall; Dinkins, supra; McDonald. This appellate ground has no merit and must be dismissed with prejudice.

**CONCLUSION**

For the above stated reasons, Porch's conviction and sentence for the murder of Nakia Mallory must be affirmed and this appeal dismissed.

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General